1994

# Marie Penrod v. Dale Penrod : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The Utah Court of Appeals had original appellate jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated 78-2a-3(2) (i) (1992 as Amended).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Defendant contends that the trial court committed error in awarding alimony to the Plaintiff in this case based upon the criteria established by the Utah appellate courts. In reviewing an alimony award, the trial court is given considerable discretion to provide for spousal support, and such an award will not be over turned on appeal unless there has been a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion. Bingham v. Bingham, 872 P.2d 1065 (Utah App. 1984); Hall v. Hall, 858 P.2d 1018, 1021 (Utah App. 1993); Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah 1986).

Secondly, the Defendant contends that the court abused its discretion in requiring the Defendant to maintain a life insurance policy with a death benefit of \$100,000.00. The Defendant contends that the trial court intended the life insurance to secure the alimony award and inasmuch as the alimony

award was improperly imposed, the requirement placed on the Defendant to maintain a life insurance policy should likewise be abated. The Defendant also contends that the amount of any required life insurance should reflect the present value of the alimony award. Trial court's have "considerable discretion in determining the financial interest of divorced parties." Hall v. Hall, 858 P.2d 1018, 1021 (Utah App. 1993). Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1074 (Utah 1985). Accordingly, property and alimony awards "will be upheld on appeal unless a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion is demonstrated." Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209, 1211 (Utah App. 1991).

The third issue relates to the trial court's error in determining that certain property received by the Defendant as part of his inheritance, became marital property. Trial courts should generally award property acquired by inheritance to that party together with any appreciation or enhancement of its value. A trial court's determination is only disturbed where there is "a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error, the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings, or such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion." Noble v. Noble, 761 P.2d 1369, 1373 (Utah 1988); Schaumberg v. Schaumberg, 240 Utah Adv. Rep. 11 (1994).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff commenced this action on August 13, 1992, seeking a decree of divorce and orders relating to real and

personal property, debts and obligations, alimony, life insurance, pension and profit sharing plans and attorney fees.

The Defendant answered the Complaint on September 5, 1992. An Amended Order resolving the temporary issues in the case was entered on November 23, 1992.

The matter was tried by the parties on July 28, 1993. The court entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Decree of Divorce on June 14, 1994. The Notice of Appeal was filed on June 28, 1994.

#### PROCEDURAL CHRONOLOGY OF THE CASE

1. The Complaint was filed on August 13, 1992 (R. 1-4). The Defendant filed an Answer to the Complaint on September 25, 1992 (R. 36-37).

2. As a result of a hearing on the Plaintiff's Order to Show Cause, the court entered an Amended Order resolving the temporary issues between the parties on November 23, 1992 (R. 41-42).

3. The matter was tried to the Honorable Guy R. Burningham on July 28, 1993. After the filing of various objections to the proposed findings, the court authorized the entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Decree of Divorce on June 14, 1994 (R. 78-91).

4. The Notice of Appeal was filed on June 20, 1994 (R. 95).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Plaintiff and Defendant were married on December 10, 1965 (R. 3, 103 at 4). The parties had three children born as

issue of the marriage, all of whom are emancipated (R. 103 at 10).

2. During the course of the marriage, the Defendant operated a business known as Dale Penrod Excavating (R. 103 at 7-8). The Plaintiff worked at Smith's Food King as a checker during the last 10 years of the marriage and at the time of trial was working an average of 36 hours per week (R. 103 at 8-9).

**A. Real Property.**

3. The parties acquired approximately 3 acres of real property located in Utah County, State of Utah (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1, R. 103 at 12-13). The Plaintiff conceded that the property was inherited by the Defendant and should be awarded to him as his own separate property (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 10; Defendant's Exhibit No. 11; R. 103 at 36-38, 47).

4. In addition, the parties acquired a one-acre parcel upon which the parties' home was built. The property was conveyed to the Plaintiff and Defendant by the Defendant's father, Leroy W. Penrod on February 3, 1972 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 2; R. 103 at 13-14). Subsequently, the one-acre parcel was conveyed by both the Plaintiff and the Defendant to the Defendant's brother, Mark C. Penrod on January 31, 1985 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 3; R. 103 at 14). The Plaintiff testified that the home and property was conveyed to the Defendant's brother in order to circumvent a judgment from a lawsuit that had been filed against the Defendant (R. 103 at 14-15). The parties continued to pay the mortgage on the home and

property from 1972 to the time of trial and no money was received from the Defendant's brother at the time of the conveyance (R. 103 at 17-18). The Plaintiff valued the home and property at \$108,400.00 minus the debt owing on the property of \$4,775.00 for a net value of \$103,625.00 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1, R. 103 at 18-19).

5. The Defendant testified that the one-acre parcel was given to him by his father as part of his inheritance. The only reason that the Plaintiff's name appeared on the deed was to satisfy the requirements of the financing bank that both the Plaintiff and the Defendant's name be on the property (R. 103 at 82-83). The Defendant testified that the value of the lot in 1972 when it was conveyed to him by his father was \$15,000.00 (R. 103 at 83-84).

6. The home and property was appraised as of October 1, 1992 as having a fair-market value of \$108,400.00 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 4). As depicted on the appraisal, three buildings were located on the one-acre parcel; a house, carport with storage area and a block shop. The block shop was used as part of the Defendant's business. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 4, R. 103 at 20-21). The portion of the appraised value of the property attributable to the block shop was \$15,000.00 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 4, R. 103 at 21).

**B. Personal Property.**

7. The Plaintiff testified that her 1989 Jeep had an appraised value of \$10,600.00 with a loan of \$2,000.00, for a net

value of \$8,600.00 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 5, R. 103 at 25). The Plaintiff valued the lawn mower and the household furniture, which she wished to be awarded at a total value of \$6,000.00 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 6, R. 103 at 26-27).

8. The parties stipulated that the appraised value of the vehicle and equipment to be awarded the Defendant was as follow: 1957 GMC truck, (\$1,800.00); a 1965 drop deck trailer (\$5,000.00); and, the 1979 traxcavator (\$14,000.00). A 1985 Dodge truck used by the Defendant had a value of \$5,525.00 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 7, 8; R. 103 at 27-29). The Plaintiff testified that the Defendant had a bobtail (a small dumptruck). In addition the Defendant had a dune buggy and trailer valued at \$3,000.00 and a restored Chevele, valued at \$6,000.00 (R. 103 at 29-31). The Defendant agreed with the values made by the appraisers. However the Defendant testified that the Chevele automobile was worth only three or four thousand dollars. The Defendant testified that the body had rust on it, was not restored to its original condition and was a mosaic of various parts from different types of vehicles (R. 103 at 85-86).

9. The Plaintiff valued the Defendant's tools at \$15,000.00 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 9, R. 103 at 31-34). The Defendant testified that many of the tools were inherited by his father. The only tools that were not inherited were comprised of a welder, a set of torches, compressor, drill press and various hand tools which the Defendant valued at \$2,500.00 (R. 103 at 86-87).

10. Additionally the Plaintiff claimed the Defendant had access to a bank account with a balance of \$4,000.00 at the time of the separation (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 9; Defendant's Exhibit No. 14, R. 103 at 31-34).

11. The Plaintiff also testified that she valued the Defendant's business at \$25,000.00 above the value of the assets (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 9, R. 103 at 31-34). The Defendant testified that he was the sole proprietor and the only person involved in the business. The Defendant testified that if he was not associated with the business, the business would have no income. Accordingly the Defendant testified that the business had no value other than the income produced (R. 103 at 84-85).

**C. Debts and Obligations.**

12. The Plaintiff testified that the only debts she was aware of consisted of the remaining obligation on the house and the debt owing on the Jeep which she was willing to assume (R. 103 at 33-39).

**D. Alimony.**

13. The Plaintiff testified that she was born on October 18, 1946 and was 46 years of age (R. 62).

14. The Plaintiff testified, by way of her financial declaration that she had \$1,739.00 in gross monthly income and \$1,230.00 of net monthly income (R. 61). The Plaintiff conceded on cross-examination that she had been working nearly full-time over the past 10 years and had made \$19,851.29 (\$1,654.27 per month) in 1986 which by 1992 had escalated to \$26,188.41

(\$2,182.37 per month) (Defendant's Exhibit No. 12; R. 103 at 47-48). In fact, the Plaintiff and Defendant acknowledged that the income of the Plaintiff and that of the Defendant (subtracting only cost of business expense) from 1986 to 1992 was as follows:

<u>Year</u>	<u>Plaintiff</u>	<u>Defendant</u>
1992	\$26,188.41	\$ 2,890.00
1991	\$23,650.10	\$ 7,231.00
1990	\$21,358.22	\$ 6,387.00
1989	\$22,854.73	\$14,562.00
1988	\$19,573.81	\$17,295.00
1987	\$19,071.95	\$13,724.00
1986	\$19,851.29	\$19,530.00

Defendant's Exhibit Nos. 12 and 13; R. 103 at 49-53, 74-79.

15. Although the Plaintiff testified that the Defendant had a drinking problem that kept him from working (R. 103 at 6), the Plaintiff acknowledged that two of the Defendant's largest customers had gone bankrupt. Additionally the Plaintiff could not name any specific jobs that the Defendant had turned down (R. 103 at 53-57).

16. The Plaintiff testified her monthly expenses were \$2,494.00 (R. 58; 103 at 39-41). The Plaintiff also testified that she had a bulging disc and a spine that was narrowing that affected her when she stood for a long period of time (R. 103 at 41-42).

17. At the time of trial, the Defendant Dale Penrod was 47 years of age and had a high school education. The Defendant had been an equipment operator for 25 years and owned his own business since 1977 or 1978 (R. 103 at 69-70).

18. The Defendant testified that his business had decreased

because of an increase in competition and his inability to purchase a backhoe (costing approximately \$150,000.00). The Defendant testified that there was only limited use for his traxcavator (R. 103 at 70-72). The Defendant testified that several of his major clients had gone out of business including Mark IV and West America Homes (R. 103 at 71-73). The Defendant indicated that he was simply unable to replace the lost major clients with new ones (R. 103 at 73).

19. The Defendant testified that he had not turned down any work and that although he drank on occasion, drinking did not affect his work (R. 103 at 73).

20. The Defendant testified that his gross income through June 17, 1993 was \$9,387.50. After deducting the cost of gas, parts, taxes, insurance and utilities totaling \$3,384.88, his net income through five and a half months was \$6,002.62 (\$1091.38 per month) (Defendant's Exhibit No. 15, R. 103 at 79-81).

**E. life Insurance.**

21. The Plaintiff testified that the Defendant had a life insurance policy with Canada Life with a death benefit of \$100,000.00 (R. 60; 103 at 42-43).

**F. Attorney Fees.**

22. The Plaintiff testified that she had incurred attorney fees in the amount of \$2,350.00 (103 at 43).

23. The Plaintiff acknowledged that she had \$1,000.00 in savings, 15 shares of Smith's Food King stock and 220 shares of stock in a mutual fund that could be used to pay the attorney

fees (R. 103 at 61-66).

24. The Defendant testified that he had incurred attorney fees in the amount of approximately \$2,000.00 (R. 103 at 89-90).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Defendant contends that the court abused its discretion in awarding the Plaintiff alimony. The historical earnings of the parties and the uncontroverted testimony of both the Plaintiff and the Defendant establish that the Plaintiff's income is over twice that of the Defendant. Additionally, the court's award of additional temporary alimony amounts to reimburse the Plaintiff for voluntary contributions to a missionary are clearly improper and violative of established appellate court guidelines. Finally, the court's attempt to impute additional monies to the Defendant does not have any foundation in the testimony and evidence and are based upon insufficient findings relating thereto.

The inclusion of a requirement that the Defendant maintain a life insurance policy with a death benefit of \$100,000.00 naming the Plaintiff as sole beneficiary, is an abuse of discretion. The court reasoned that the life insurance requirement was necessary to secure the Plaintiff's alimony award. Inasmuch as there is no foundation in the record to support an award of alimony, the related requirement to maintain a life insurance policy should likewise be abated. If the requirement to maintain life insurance is somehow affirmed by this Court, the requirement should be in accordance with the trial court's direction.

Specifically the policy should be in an amount not greater than the present value of the alimony award based upon the Plaintiff's life expectancy.

Lastly, the Defendant contends that all of the real property given to him by his father was in fact part of his inheritance and a gift to him. The Defendant contends that the trial court abused its discretion in holding that the one-acre parcel, upon which the family home was built, was marital property. The value of that parcel should have been awarded to him as his own separate inherited property.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I: THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING ALIMONY TO THE PLAINTIFF

###### A. Standard of Appellate Review.

The Defendant recognizes that the trial court is given considerable discretion to provide for spousal support and that any such award will not be over-turned on appeal unless there has been a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion. Bingham v. Bingham, 872 P.2d 1065 (Utah App. 1994); Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah 1986).

###### B. Criteria for the Award of Alimony.

The general purpose of alimony is to prevent the receiving spouse from becoming a public charge and to maintain to the extent possible the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage. Schaumberg v. Schaumberg, 240 Utah Adv. Rep. 11 (1994); Rosendahl v. Rosendahl, 240 Utah Adv. Rep. 25 (1994); Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209, 1212 (Utah App. 1991).

In determining to award alimony and in setting the amount, the trial court must consider (1) the financial conditions and needs of the receiving spouse; (2) the ability of the receiving spouse to provide for him or herself; and (3) the ability of the payor or spouse to provide support. Chambers v. Chambers, 840 P.2d 841, 843 (Utah App. 1992); Schindler v. Schindler, 776 P.2d 84 (Utah App. 1989).

**C. Requirements for Specific Trial Findings.**

This Court has made it clear that if there is a factual basis and if the trial court has made adequate findings, the Appellate court will not disturb the trial court's alimony award unless such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion. Schindler, supra.

Moreover, "in considering these factors, the trial court is required to make adequate findings on all material issues, unless the facts in the record are 'clear, uncontroverted, and capable of supporting only a finding in favor of the judgment.' "

Haumont v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421, 424 (Utah App. 1990) quoting Throckmorton v. Throckmorton, 767 P.2d 121, 124 (Utah App. 1988) quoting Acton v. Deliran, 737 P.2d 996, 999 (Utah 1987).

In this case, the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce are attached as part of the Addendum as Exhibit I. The sections relevant to alimony are paragraphs 5 and 15 of the Findings which are mirrored in paragraph 2 of the Conclusions and paragraph 2 of the Decree. Findings numbered 5 and 15 are as

follows:

5. The Court finds that the Plaintiff's monthly income is \$1,779.00 and imputes to the Defendant monthly income in the sum of \$2,383.00. Defendant's income is calculated based upon the testimony given at trial by the Defendant which showed that he worked twenty (20) hours per week, that sixty percent (60%) of his employment was billed at the rate of \$65.00/hour and forty percent (40%) of his employment billed at the rate of \$40.00/hour, that he worked nine (9) months during the year and that one-third (1/3) of his gross income was attributable to expenses and therefore that his yearly income amounted to \$28,600.00 or \$2,383.00 per month. The Court further finds that Defendant earns \$7,732.00 more than Plaintiff each year.

15. The Court finds that Plaintiff and Defendant were married for over twenty-seven (27) years and that Plaintiff is in need of alimony and that Defendant should pay to Plaintiff as alimony the sum of \$672.00/month said alimony to be permanent. This finding is based upon the additional expenses which Plaintiff presently incurs as reflected on her Financial Declaration and which she anticipates will be reduced after ten (10) months and upon the Defendant's minimal expenses and his ability to pay.

**D. The Trial Court Findings with Regard to the Financial Conditions and Needs of the Plaintiff are Improper.**

The trial court made a finding that the Plaintiff's yearly income was \$20,868.00 which equates to a monthly income to a monthly income of \$1,739.00 which is within \$40.00 of the amount recited in paragraph 5 of the Findings (R. 85, 103 at 138).

However, the court did not make either in his oral ruling from the bench or in the written Findings, Conclusions and Decree, any specific findings regarding the Plaintiff's monthly expenses and needs. The Plaintiff submitted a Financial Declaration showing monthly expenses of \$2,494.00, but the court did not make any findings relative to those claimed expenses (R. 58-62; 103 at 138-140).

As outlined in the Findings and Decree, the court ordered the Defendant to pay an increased alimony award for ten months of \$672.00 per month which then was reduced to \$322.00 per month which was to be permanent alimony. The court's reasoning employed to support the \$672.00 award was totally improper. The trial court awarded the extra \$350.00 simply to compensate the Plaintiff for her voluntary contribution to a child on a church mission. Although not specifically included in the written findings, it is clear from the court's oral ruling what he intended:

The expenses set forth in the Financial Declaration of the Plaintiff indicates her total monthly expenses are \$2,494.00. Now, of that, \$350.00 represents the amount going to support a missionary who apparently has been on his mission for

fourteen months and would have ten months to go . . .

I am going to award her \$322.00 per month alimony . . . what I'm going to do -- it appears she has supported the missionary since he's been out. I didn't hear any other evidence . . . but what I'm going to do is award temporary alimony in the amount of \$672.00 for ten months . . . .

R. 103 at 146-148.

The \$350.00 added alimony for the ten month period of time is clearly improper. The court is ordering the Defendant to pay support for an emancipated child. The parties stipulated and the Findings reflect that all three children born as issue of the marriage had attained the age of majority (Finding No. 4, R. 85).

Although U.C.A. 15-2-1 allows a court to order support of a child to age 21, the court may do so only upon a finding of necessity and special or unusual circumstances. Balls v. Hackle, 745 P.2d 836 (Utah App. 1987); Jackman v. Jackman, 696 P.2d 1191 (Utah 1985); Thornblad v. Thornblad, 849 P.2d 1197 (Utah App. 1993). In this case, the trial court simply referred to the voluntary contribution and made no findings relating to the child's need for the money or other special circumstances. It is clear that the child was not suffering from any mental or physical handicap or impairment. The court blatantly and improperly ordered the Defendant to make a voluntary contribution to his son's mission using alimony as a guise.

In Chambers v. Chambers, supra the Court noted the

impropriety of including children expenses into an alimony award.

Inasmuch as the court explicitly tied the Plaintiff's need for the extra \$350.00 to her voluntary contribution to an adult child, the inclusion of that requirement on the Defendant by way of an alimony award is clearly outside the mandate of this Court as to the allowable basis for an award of alimony.

One further item should be noted. Aside from being an improper attempt to order child support, the award is improper on another basis. This Court has ruled that alimony must be limited to provide for only basic needs and that a consideration of the recipient's station in life may be considered only when he is determined to have adequate resources. Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209, 1212 (Utah App. 1991); Martinez v. Martinez, 818 P.2d 538, 542 (Utah 1991).

The award of the \$672.00 as temporary alimony is improper in that it was devised as a means to force the Defendant to contribute to Plaintiff's voluntary expenditures. Secondly the award is a guise for forced child support for an emancipated child. Third, the amount exceeds the base needs of the Plaintiff.

**E. The Trial Court Findings with Regard to the Defendant's Ability to Pay Alimony are Unsupported by the Evidence of Actual Earnings in the Case.**

In Finding of Fact No. 5, the trial court imputed \$2,283.00 of monthly income to the Defendant. The court does so based upon the following calculation:

Defendant's income is calculated based upon the

testimony given at trial by the Defendant which showed that he worked twenty (20) hours per week, that sixty percent (60%) of his employment was billed at the rate of \$65.00/hour and forty percent (40%) of his employment billed at the rate of \$40.00/hour, that he worked nine (9) months during the year and that one-third ( $1/3$ ) of his gross income was attributable to expenses and therefore that his yearly income amounted to \$28,600.00 or \$2,383.00 per month. The Court further finds that Defendant earns \$7,732.00 more than Plaintiff each year.

R. 85.

The Finding of the court as it relates to the Defendant's income has no basis in the record. Both the Plaintiff and the Defendant testified that the joint tax returns, signed by both parties, demonstrated the following income. In 1986, the Defendant had \$19,530.00 of annual income which equates to a monthly income of \$1,627.50. In 1987, the Defendant had \$13,724.00 of income equating to \$1,143.00 per month. In 1988, the annual income was \$17,295.00 or \$1,431.25 per month. In 1989, the Defendant's total income was \$14,562.00 or \$1,213.50 per month. In 1990, the Defendant's total annual income was \$6,387.00 or \$532.25 per month. 1991 was only slightly better. The Defendant had \$7,231.00 of income or \$602.58 of monthly income. 1992 the Defendant's income was \$2,890.00 or \$240.83 per month. The Defendant testified that to the time of trial, his

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