1994

Marie Penrod v. Dale Penrod : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court considered the factors enumerated in Schindler v. Schindler 776 P.2d 84 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) and properly awarded alimony to the wife.

The trial court considered the evidence submitted at trial and properly ordered the husband to maintain a life insurance policy naming the wife as beneficiary thereunder.

The trial court properly found that the gift of one acre real property upon which the marital home was constructed, was a joint gift to both husband and wife.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court considered the factors enumerated in Schindler v. Schindler 776 P.2d 84 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) and properly awarded alimony to the wife.

In a recent case, this Court stated:

Trial courts have broad discretion in awarding alimony. We will not disturb the trial court's alimony award so long as the trial court exercises its discretion within the standards set by the court. (Osguthorpe v. Osguthorpe 804 P.2d 530 [Utah App. 1990]).

Furthermore, the Court stated:

In determining alimony, the trial court must consider three (3) factors: (1) the financial conditions and needs of the receiving spouse; (2) the ability of the receiving spouse to produce a sufficient income for him or herself; and (3) the ability of the responding spouse to provide support. (Osguthorpe, supra).

And, finally, the Court in Osguthorpe stated:

If the trial court considers these factors, this court will not disturb the alimony award unless such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion.

Regarding the issue of credibility, the Court stated:

We find no error in the trial court's failure to make a specific finding regarding defendant's income in this circumstance. The trial court found that defendant was not candid as to actual incurred income or was purposely underemployed. We defer to the trial court's assessment of the credibility of the witnesses. (Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a); Riche v. Riche 784 P.2d 465 [Ct. App. 1989]). Given the evidence in the record, it was well within the court's discretion to determine that defendant was either earning more than the evidence indicated or had the ability to earn more money.

In another recent case the Court stated:

The purpose of such support is to enable the receiving spouse to maintain as nearly as possible the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage and to prevent the spouse from becoming a public charge. In an action for divorce, the trial court has considerable discretion to provide for spousal support, and this court will not interfere with the trial court's award of such support in a divorce proceeding absent a showing of a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion. (Paffel v. Paffel 732 P.2d 96 [Utah 1986]).

The Utah Supreme Court when considering this same issue stated in part as follows:

The alimony award in that situation should, "to the extent possible, equalize the parties' respective standards of living and maintain them at a level as close as possible to that standard of living enjoyed during the marriage". (Gardner v. Gardner 748 P.2d 1076 [Utah 1988]).

In the instant case, the trial court considered the evidence, some of which was in conflict, and found the income and expense figures of the wife both from her financial declaration and by direct testimony to be:

1. Income - \$1,779.00 per month; and
2. Expenses - \$2,494.00 per month.

Furthermore, the Court found that the wife would experience a foreseeable reduction in expenses within ten (10) months because her son would return home from missionary service.

The trial court imputed income to the husband based upon extensive testimony in the record, both from the wife, and

admissions by the husband. This evidence supported the trial court's finding that the husband's imputed income was \$2,383.00 per month.

Because the husband failed to provide a financial declaration showing monthly expenses, and only testified to expenses of approximately \$350.00 per month, the Court found that husband had "minimal" monthly expenses.

The trial court considered the evidence of historical income and the abilities of the parties to provide support and found that the wife needed permanent alimony in the sum of \$672.00 per month for ten (10) months and \$322.00 per month thereafter.

The record shows that the trial court considered the three (3) prong test enumerated in Osguthorpe and the alimony award is fair and equitable.

Furthermore, the husband failed to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's findings and his appeal should be denied on that basis alone.

However, the record does show careful consideration of the financial condition of the parties, the needs of the wife, the ability of the wife to provide income for herself, and the ability of the husband to provide support for the wife.

The transcript of the trial provides the following evidence at page 39 line 11 thru page 42 line 18 regarding the needs of the

wife and her ability to provide for herself:

Q Now, I'd like to talk to you for a moment about alimony. You earlier stated that this is a 27 year marriage. And you've set forth your financial declaration to the Court which sets forth a monthly income of \$1,739. I'm going to hand you a duplicate copy of that. And if you can turn to the second page, what is the net take home that you have from your job at Smith's?

A \$1,739.

Q And that would your gross income, would it not?

A That would be the gross.

Q If you'd look down on line 3, what's the net take-home?

A \$1,230.

Q You have \$1,230 a month disposal to take care of your expenses, do you not?

A Yes. That's based on 40 hours, if I work 40 hours or not.

Q Sometimes you work less, don't you?

A Yes. I don't work a flat 40 every time.

Q But the point is if you did work 40 hours, you'd have \$1,230 plus each month?

A Yes.

Q Now, if you would turn to the next page, what's the total of your monthly expenses?

A \$2,494.

Q So you run a shortfall each month of about 1,200 to \$1,300 a month?

A Yes.

Q Is it your request that the Court order him to pay \$1,000.00 per month of alimony to you?

A Yes.

Q Do you feel that would be fair and equitable?

A Yes.

Q Do you think he has the ability to pay that?

A Yes.

Q Do you have a need for that?

A Yes.

Q If he were to pay that to you, would that allow you to maintain the standard of living you've had during the marriage?

A Yes.

Q Do you also have a potential medical condition which may make it difficult for you to continue your employment?

A Yes.

Q Would you tell the Court what that is?

A Well, by rights I should have back surgery. That's what two doctors has recommended.

Mr. Petro: Your Honor, I'd object on the basis that it's hearsay. It's what a doctor told her. I think it's entirely inappropriate and requires expert testimony.

Mr. Harrison: I think she can testify as to what her condition is.

The Court: She can, but she can't tell me what the doctors have told her, so I'm going to sustain the objection.

Q By Mr. Harrison: Mrs. Penrod, if you would tell me, what is your physical ailment?

A I have a bulging disk and my spine is narrowing like an

hour glass. And it causes the pressure put on the nerves causing pain to go down through my back and down through my legs.

Q Have you been treated for this condition?

A Yes.

Q By who?

A Dr. John.

Q How long have you been treated for this condition?

A I think it was a couple years ago when it really started acting up.

Q Does it affect you when you have to stand for a long period of time?

A Yes. And a lot of bending, yes.

Q And does your job by its nature require that you stand for a long period of time?

A Yes.

Q And what do you do?

A I check in a grocery store.

Q So you check groceries?

A Yes.

The transcript also shows the husbands needs and his ability to provide for the wife. On page 91 line 11 thru line 20, the husband testifies as follows:

Q Mr. Penrod, you have not filed with the Court a financial declaration, have you?

A No, not to my knowledge.

Q And you have not prepared any statement that shows what your monthly living expenses are, have you?

A Not to my knowledge.

Q Nor have you stated under oath or executed a document under oath showing what your monthly income is.

A Nobody asked me.

He further testifies on page 94 line 4 thru 14:

Q And what did you charge them as an hourly rate?

A Sixty-five an hour.

Q And how many hours did you work for them?

A I worked five hours yesterday.

Q Would you say that your normal customary billing rate for that kind of work is \$65 an hour?

A Yes.

Q How many years have you used that as your billing rate?

A Approximately 10, 11 years.

Husband's argument regarding one of the wife's expenses (\$350.00 per month for a child doing missionary work) is without merit.

Whether husband acknowledges it or not, the wife had been incurring said expense prior to the divorce hearing and would

continue to incur the expense on a monthly basis thereafter for ten (10) additional months. The expense total of \$2,494.00 per month was a fair representation of the wife's needs and expenses during the marriage.

As a practical matter, the trial court provided for an automatic reduction in alimony after ten (10) months without requiring the husband to file a Petition to Modify based upon a change of material circumstances.

In addition to the above, the trial court took the husband at this word, which was that he worked only approximately 20 hours per week, and billed between \$40.00 - \$65.00 per hour. The trial court did not require him to work 40 hours per week, but accepted the evidence submitted and imputed income of only \$2,383.00 per month.

The trial court's award of alimony to the wife should be sustained.

II. The trial court considered the evidence submitted at trial and properly ordered the husband to maintain a life insurance policy naming the wife as beneficiary thereunder.

The trial court's order that husband maintain life insurance for the benefit of the wife is entirely consistent with its award of alimony and the need for financial security by the wife, and the

general powers granted to the court under Section 30-3-5 U.C.A. (1953 as amended).

Section 30-3-5 states in part as follows:

When a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property, debts, or obligations, and parties.

This Section authorizes the trial court to provide for the financial security of the party seeking alimony.

The record contains evidence that the \$100,000.00 life insurance policy was maintained during the marriage and the court found that it should continue.

The transcript shows that the wife testified on page 42 line 19 thru page 43 line 8 as follows:

Q Is there a life insurance policy that Mr. Penrod has maintained on his life?

A Yes.

Q And is that in the sum of \$100,000?

A Yes.

Q Is it your request that he be ordered to maintain that policy?

A Yes.

Q And that you be named as the sole beneficiary on that policy?

A Yes.

Q Why do you think the Court should award it that way?

A So I'll have some money to take care of me later on if anything happens to Dale.

The husband approved the specific language of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decree of Divorce and cannot now argue that the form of the language should be changed.

The provision for life insurance is an aspect of the alimony award and the trial court should be awarded broad discretion in its findings. The order providing for life insurance coverage should be sustained.

III. The trial court properly found that the gift of one acre real property upon which the marital home was constructed, was a joint gift to both husband and wife.

In the recent case of Osguthorpe v. Osguthorpe, supra, the Court stated:

Absent a showing of a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion, we will not interfere with a property award.

Furthermore, the Court stated:

However, in making equitable orders pursuant to Section 30-3-5 the court has consistently concluded that the trial court is given broad discretion in dividing property, regardless of its source or time of acquisition.

The Court further concluded:

However, the trial court found the gifts were intended for both parties and we will not overturn the court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.

In the instant case, the husband again fails to marshal evidence in support of the trial court's findings and therefore should fail on that basis alone.

However, the record contains clear evidence on which the findings of the trial court are based.

The wife testified that the one acre was a gift to both parties in 1972, that they built their marital home on the property and jointly made payments on the property throughout their marriage.

The transcript shows that the wife testified on page 13 line 8 thru page 14 line 8 as follows:

Q In addition to that, did you obtain a one-acre parcel and build a house on it?

A Yes, we did.

Q When did you do that?

A I believe it was in '72.

Q Now, I'm going to hand you Exhibit 2. If you'll hold onto Exhibit 1 for just a moment. Can you tell the Court what Exhibit 2 is?

A That's a deed from Grandpa Penrod to Dale and I when we were going to build our home.

Q Now, Leroy Penrod would be your father-in-law, would he not?

A Yes.

Q And in 1972 did he deed this one acre piece of property to you and Dale?

A Yes.

Q And do you know why he did that?

A Yes. So we could build a home on it.

Q Did he give that piece of property only to Mr. Penrod?

A No.

Q Did he give it to the both of you?

A Yes.

Q After you received that one acre, did you build a home on it?

A Yes.

Q Have you live there with your family ever since that time?

A Yes.

The trial court specifically found that the one acre was a gift to both parties. The record supports this finding and should be sustained.

Husband refuses to recognize that the trial court found the wife's testimony more clear, more convincing, and more truthful and in its discretion adopted findings consistent with the evidence